6

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001158

Curtis MillsRespondent

v.

The South Carolina State Ports AuthorityAppellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Randolph R. Lowell, Esq.
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.
133 River Landing Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, SC 29492
(843) 619-4426

Randell C. Stoney, Esq.
John W. Fletcher, Esq.
BARNWELL WHALEY PATTERSON &
HELMS, LLC
288 Meeting Street, Suite 200 (29401)29401
P.O. Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-7700 Fax: (843) 577-7708

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in refusing the Ports Authority's request to instruct the jury regarding comparative negligence, where the evidence demonstrated that the Plaintiff had a duty to disengage the pins on his truck chassis and keep them disengaged, he breached that duty, and the alleged accident and injuries resulted from those pins being engaged?**
- II. Did the trial court err in denying the Ports Authority's motion for a new trial absolute or, in the alternative, new trial *nisi remittitur*, where the verdict was so excessive compared to the evidence adduced at trial and was so unsupported by the record as to be the result passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside of the evidence, and the trial court relied on evidence not relevant to the jury's award in concluding otherwise?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Curtis Mills (“Plaintiff”) commenced this personal injury action against the South Carolina State Ports Authority (“Ports Authority”) on May 7, 2014, in the Court of Common Pleas of Charleston County, South Carolina. (*See generally* R. pp. 10-19). Plaintiff claimed to have been injured during the removal of a shipping container he delivered to the Ports Authority from his truck. (*See generally id.*) On June 20, 2014, the Ports Authority filed its Answer to the Complaint. (*See generally* R. 20-24). In that Answer, the Ports Authority denied liability and alleged the affirmative defenses of Plaintiff’s sole or comparative negligence:

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The Defendant SCSPA pleads sole negligence in that the Plaintiff herein failed to safely and adequately disengage the pins securing the container on the chassis which is his responsibility, thereby preparing the load for safe lifting by the top handler herein, said failure constituted sole negligence on the Plaintiff thereby precluding any recovery;

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Comparative negligence that the failure of the Plaintiff to completely disengage the locking mechanisms securing his load to his chassis thus preparing for a clean and safe lift constitutes negligence of an amount greater than any which would be assigned to the SCSPA top handler operator as any allegations of negligence against said operator for his actions occurring in the process of the lifting.

(R. pp. 22-23).

On or about April 22, 2016, Plaintiff dismissed this action from the docket pursuant to Rule 40(j) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. pp. 25-29). This matter was restored to the docket by the Consent Order to Restore 40(j) on November 2, 2016, at docket No. 2016-CP-10-5892. (R. pp. 2-4).

After the parties engaged in discovery, this case was tried to a jury from May 29, 2018 through June 1, 2018, the Honorable Kristi Harrington presiding. On May 31, 2018, Judge Harrington instructed the jury on the law, but she *did not* instruct the jury on comparative

negligence. (R. pp. 194:10-211:14). Following deliberations, the jury found that the Ports Authority's negligence proximately caused injury to Plaintiff and awarded Plaintiff actual damages of \$616,710.07. (R. pp. 5-7). On June 8, 2018, the Ports Authority filed Post-Trial Motions arguing:

- The trial judge should grant a new trial because she failed to instruct the jury regarding comparative negligence;
- The trial judge should grant judgment n.o.v., a new trial, or a new trial *nisi remittitur* because the jury's verdict was excessive and not supported by any evidence presented at trial;
- The trial judge should grant judgment n.o.v. or a new trial under the "thirteenth juror" doctrine because there was no evidence supporting a finding of liability; and
- The trial judge should reduce the verdict to \$300,000 under the terms of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(1).

(R. pp. 66-77). The trial court held oral argument on the Port's Authority's Post-Trial Motions on the same date and (also on the same date) denied, in part, the Post-Trial Motions:

Post-trial Motions were heard on June 8, 2018. Defendant's Motion for New Trial Upon Failure to Charge Comparative Negligence, Motion for J.N.O.V., New Trial, or New Trial Nisi Remittitur Because the Jury's Verdict Was Excessive and Not Supported by the Evidence, and the Motion for J.N.O.V. or a New Trial Under the "Thirteenth Juror" Doctrine Because There is No Evidence Supporting the Jury's Liability Verdict are denied. The Defendant's Motion to Reduce the Verdict to Reflect the Caps Set Forth in the South Carolina Tort Claims Act is granted with the concession of the Defendant. The verdict is reduced to \$300,000.00, pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code 15-78-120(a).

(R. pp. 8-9). On or about June 18, 2018, the Ports Authority filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 86-92).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, a truck driver, arrived at one of the Ports Authority's terminals on October 4, 2012, to drop off a shipping container. (R. p. 98:2-25). The Ports Authority agreed that at least one of the pins securing the container, also known as a box, to the truck's chassis was engaged at the time Plaintiff presented his container to Ports Authority employee Greg Spanbauer for removal. As a result, the container did not immediately come loose from the chassis. Beyond this, the parties presented markedly different accounts of the particulars of this lift; Plaintiff claimed his chassis rose up to six feet off the ground and then fell, thereby injuring him, while the Ports Authority's evidence showed the chassis did not rise at all and Plaintiff merely drove forward to release the container. Regardless of which version of events is correct, the fact that the pins were engaged at the time of the lift means one of two things occurred, either of which implies Plaintiff's negligence: (1) Plaintiff did not disengage the pins in the first instance, as required, or (2) Plaintiff failed to ensure that the pins remained disengaged at the time Mr. Spanbauer attempted to lift the box from the chassis, also as required.

Plaintiff's Duty to Remove Pins Securing Container

It was undisputed at trial that truck drivers are solely responsible for ensuring the pins securing their containers are fully disengaged at the time of the container's removal.

For example, Damion Solomon, a friend of Plaintiff's who allegedly witnessed the incident and who testified on Plaintiff's behalf, agreed drivers bear this responsibility. (R. p. 129:22-25). He further explained it is "not uncommon" for the pins to jostle back into place *en route* to the crane if they are removed upon entering the Ports Authority's terminal; in fact, this happens "all the time." (R. pp. 127:21-128:8; 129:16-21). Mr. Solomon readily agreed that re-checking the pins just prior to the lift to ensure they remain disengaged is the "safer" practice. (R. p. 130:22-

23). There is nothing preventing a driver from doing so, and Mr. Solomon testified that some drivers actually wait until they arrive at the crane to remove the pins in the first instance. (R. pp. 131:6-13; 132:10-20).

Barney Washington is a seventeen-year veteran of the Ports Authority who was trained as an equipment operator by Mr. Spanbauer and was called to testify by both Plaintiff and the Ports Authority. (R. pp. 120:4-14, 121:21-24). Like Mr. Solomon, Mr. Washington agreed it is the truck driver's responsibility to ensure the pins remain disengaged, not the crane operator's. (R. p. 169:5-11). Mr. Washington also testified it is "[n]ot unusual" for pins to jostle back into place. (R. pp. 123:19-24; 124:7-10). A driver presenting a container for removal represents that it is ready to be lifted and for the crane operator to take possession of it. (R. pp. 167:23-168:3). Mr. Washington therefore unequivocally testified that the responsibility for ensuring the pins are removed and the box is safe to lift "is *strictly on the driver.*" (R. p. 168:4-7 (emphasis added)).

Jarod Brown, who has worked with the Ports Authority for fourteen years and testified in detail about Ports Authority training and terminal operations, also explained that a driver presenting a box for a lift represents it is safe, the crane operator relies on the driver to safely remove the pins and cannot know there is a problem with the pins until after the lift begins, absent some communication from the truck driver. (R. pp. 149:3-5, 156:24-157:17).

The Lift Described by Plaintiff

Plaintiff claimed he disengaged all of four pins securing each corner of the container to his chassis upon checking into the terminal. (R. p. 99:1-19). He testified that he then drove to the designated location where Mr. Spanbauer was to remove the container from his chassis. (R. pp. 99:20-100:6).

Plaintiff testified that during the lift his entire chassis and the rear wheels of his truck came off the ground with the container. (R. pp. 99:20-100:15, 114:22-115:8). Per Plaintiff, Mr. Spanbauer lifted Plaintiff's chassis four to six feet off the ground. (R. p. 113:19-23). Mr. Solomon asserted Mr. Spanbauer lifted Plaintiff's chassis so high that Mr. Solomon could have walked under it. (R. p. 125:2-13). Plaintiff believes Mr. Spanbauer then attempted to "shake the box off" the chassis and "the tires of [his] truck came down hard" with the box no longer attached. (R. p. 100:8-21).

The dramatic lift Plaintiff described necessarily means all four pins were engaged at the time Mr. Spanbauer removed the container from Plaintiff's chassis. (R. pp. 161:2-18, 167:12-21). Accepting Plaintiff's testimony that he removed all pins at the gate as true, these pins all must have jostled back into place during the drive to the crane. Yet Plaintiff presented no evidence that he ever checked to ensure the pins remained disengaged at the time of the lift, despite the uncontested evidence from both Plaintiff's and the Ports Authority's witnesses that it was his responsibility to do so. The record therefore contains evidence that Plaintiff breached his duty to ensure the pins are free and lift is safe.

Alternatively, the evidence suggests Plaintiff never disengaged his pins at the gate to begin with, if his description of the lift is correct. Mr. Brown testified that it is "unlikely" all four pins re-engaged between the gate and the crane and that he has never seen that happen in his seventeen years of experience with the Ports Authority. (R. p. 160:7-16). When the pins do manage to jostle back into the place, they move minimally and typically only in the front, as the back pins must be twisted into place. (R. pp. 165:20-166:7). If only the front pins are engaged, which is the most likely "jostle back" scenario, the lift will be lopsided as the rear of the container will come off the chassis but the front will not. (R. pp. 166:16-167:11). A container with only the front pins engaged

could not lift an entire chassis four to six feet off the ground. (R. pp. 160:17-161:18). If Plaintiff's testimony about the lift is accepted, this evidence implies it was *not* the result of the pins re-engaging. Instead, all four pins would have to have been engaged because Plaintiff never disengaged *any* of them in the first instance when he entered the Ports Authority's terminal. This too is a violation of Plaintiff's duty as a truck driver presenting a load for lifting.

The Lift Described by the Ports Authority

While the Ports Authority did not dispute that at least some pins remained engaged on Plaintiff's container at the time of the lift, it sharply disputed Plaintiff's version of events. Mr. Spanbauer testified that the back pins on Plaintiff's chassis were unlocked but the front ones were fully engaged. (R. pp. 139:22-140:12). When only the front pins are engaged, the lift appear to be normal at first. (R. pp. 152:16-153:1). Mr. Spanbauer recalled that the back of Plaintiff's container rose approximately two feet at an angle during the lift. (R. pp. 141:5-142:3). Before Mr. Spanbauer could lower the box, Plaintiff drove forward in an apparent attempt to slide the front pins out, causing his truck "bounce" as they disengaged from the container. (R. p. 142:4-23; *see also* R. p. 164:3-15 (testimony of Mr. Washington confirming that the truck will bounce if it drives forward during a lift with the front pins still engaged)). Tellingly, neither Mr. Solomon nor Mr. Spanbauer could recall a chassis coming off of the ground during a lift as Plaintiff (and even Mr. Solomon) described. (R. pp. 126:8-11, 147:7-12). Mr. Brown further testified that lifting an entire chassis four to five feet off the ground is "[v]ery, very unlikely" and that he "do[es]n't see how it could happen." (R. pp. 160:17-161:1).

This evidence suggests Plaintiff presented his container for a lift with only the front pins still engaged.¹ This could result from these pins re-engaging, which Plaintiff failed to check, or from Plaintiff failing to disengage them initially. In that regard, the evidence revealed a dangerous practice among truck drivers of *intentionally* leaving the front pins engaged. (R. pp. 142:7-143:23, 157:9-158:23). Drivers utilize this practice solely for their own convenience, and they will try to “time it just right” and drive forward once the lift takes the pressure off the front pins. (R. pp. 146:18-24, 157:9-158:23). It is a dangerous and unsafe practice for a driver to have a container lifted off his chassis with the pins engaged if the driver does not alert the crane operator ahead of time. (R. pp. 144:19-145:4). Whether Plaintiff failed to remove the front pins at the gate, failed to re-check them prior to the lift, or intentionally left them engaged, the evidence shows he breached his duty.

Evidence of Plaintiff's Claimed Damages

Following the lift, Plaintiff claimed he drove forward out of the path of crane, exited his truck, and waived his hands in an unsuccessful attempt to alert Mr. Spanbauer. (R. pp. 100:22-103:10. *But see* R. p. 140:13-17 (Mr. Spanbauer recalling he watched Plaintiff drive away and then sit in his truck for approximately half an hour)). Plaintiff ultimately called Port Police to report the incident. (R. p. 104:9-16). Plaintiff never received any report of damage to his truck as a result

¹ The evidence also showed it is impossible to “shake” a container off a chassis. Mr. Solomon agreed the use of hydraulic equipment means a crane operator is “not really going to have a sudden shake.” (R. p. 125:14-22). The crane equipment moves too slowly and does not have sufficient range of motion to “shake” a container off of an attached chassis. (R. pp. 148:14-149:1, 150:12-16, 154:16-153:3, 162:18-163:4). Mr. Washington explained that the Ports Authority does not “jiggle” containers on a chassis and he has never witnessed it. (R. pp. 123:3-5, 162:25-163:4). Similarly, Mr. Brown explained “there is absolutely nothing the [crane] operator can do to disengage” the rear pins if they are stuck. (R. pp. 155:22-159:8). Thus, Mr. Spanbauer could not shake the container loose (if a shake is even possible) with all four pins engaged, as would be the case if Plaintiff’s recall of the lift is correct).

of this incident. (R. p. 117:13-20). Neither did his airbags rupture following the alleged four to six-foot drop of his truck and chassis. (R. p. 116:2-3). Plaintiff refused an ambulance several times at the scene. (R. p. 140:22-23).

Plaintiff loosely averred on direct examination that he missed “[l]ike, nine weeks or more” of work “because of this medical treatment” he received following the lift. (R. p. 110:6-11). When pressed during cross examination on his failure to file tax returns, he revealed for the first time that he did not work in 2013 “[a]fter my accident.” (R. pp. 118:22-119:6). Dr. Timothy Zgleszewski, one of Plaintiff’s treating physicians, testified that he cleared Plaintiff to return to work on February 24, 2014. (R. pp. 137:8-138:3). There is no evidence Plaintiff remained unable to work after that date or that he did not return to work after being cleared by his doctor. To the contrary, Plaintiff’s counsel admitted in closing arguments that Plaintiff “wants to work,” “[h]e went back to work as soon as can,” and “[h]e’s working now with pain.” (R. p. 189:24-25).

There is scant evidence as to the wages Plaintiff lost while out of work. The only testimony in this regard is Plaintiff’s statement that he lost “[l]ike, right about 12,000-something dollars” during the “[l]ike, nine weeks or more” of work he missed. (R. p. 110:6-15). Plaintiff offered no documentary evidence supporting his calculation of lost wages.

The Jury Charge, the Jury’s Verdict, and the Trial Court’s Denial of the Ports Authority’s Post-Trial Motions

In light of the evidence demonstrating Plaintiff either did not disengage the pins in the first instance or confirm that they had not re-engaged, as was his duty, the Ports Authority requested that the court instruct the jury on the doctrine of comparative negligence. (R. p. 173:17-18). The Ports Authority’s Proposed Jury Instructions included a request for an explicit, detailed, nearly two-page long jury instruction on comparative negligence. (R. pp. 61-63 ¶ 5). Plaintiff has not

suggested that this instruction was inaccurate or misstated the law of comparative negligence in any way.

Counsel for the Ports Authority argued after the close of evidence that the jury should be instructed on comparative negligence because there was evidence from which the jury could conclude that Mr. Mills was negligent in failing to confirm that the pins were disengaged before allowing the container to be lifted. (R. pp. 175:13-185:2). The Ports Authority's counsel expressly recounted the evidence showing that "either [Plaintiff] didn't disengage them at the gate or they jostled back into place. And with the pins fully engaged, the probability is he didn't pull them." (R. p. 184:20-23).

The trial court engaged in a lengthy dialogue with counsel regarding the appropriateness of a comparative negligence charge. (R. pp. 173:18-185:6). During that discussion, the trial court improperly injected a theory of "last clear chance" that had not been argued by the Plaintiff, the court ultimately agreed was improper, and Plaintiff's counsel agreed to not reference. (R. pp. 182:20-183:25). The court nevertheless decided Plaintiff's negligence could be present only *after* Mr. Spanbauer had engaged and lifted the chassis. (R. pp. 177:3-181:3, 182:20-24). This finding was incorrect, disregarded the uncontroverted evidence that Plaintiff's obligation to remove the pins arose prior to the Ports Authority's actions, and ignored that the chassis allegedly lifting off the ground *is* the evidence that Plaintiff did not properly fulfill his duty under the circumstances and was therefore negligent. The trial court accordingly did not instruct the jury on comparative negligence, noting the Ports Authority's exception. (R. p. 185:5-6). The Ports Authority unsuccessfully renewed its request for a comparative negligence instruction after the trial court charged the jury. (R. pp. 211:23-212:1).

Plaintiff did not request any lost wages, whether past or future, in his closing argument. (R. pp. at 186:7-192:10, 193:8-194:8). The jury awarded Plaintiff \$616,710.07. (R. pp. 5-7). In a handwritten note, the jury itemized the components of its damage calculation as follows:

- \$50,157.07 “Bills”
- \$12,000 “9 week” “comp” for “Oct-Dec-2012” time “out of work”
- \$80,888.00 “14 months (cleared)”²
- \$398,665.00 “lost of wages” (also described by the jury as “lost wages till ret.”)³
- \$75,000 (unexplained).

(See R. pp. 250-51).⁴

The Ports Authority timely filed its Post-Trial Motions on June 8, 2018. (R. pp. 66-77). As is relevant to this appeal, the Ports Authority moved for a new trial based on the trial court’s failure to charge the jury on comparative negligence, a new trial absolute because the jury’s verdict was grossly excessive, or in the alternative, a new trial *nisi remittitur* to reduce the damages to only those proven at trial. (R. pp. 69-75). At the hearing on the Ports Authority’s Post-Trial Motions, the trial court espoused its patently erroneous but continued belief that there is no duty on a truck driver to ensure the pins are fully disengaged at the time of the lift:

The testimony indicated the duty to ensure the safe lift was upon the crane operator and there was no testimony to indicate the duty was on the truck driver to exit the truck and ensure the pins were disengaged immediately prior to the lift.

² The jury calculated this total by annualizing Plaintiff’s “\$12,000 in lost wages over nine weeks” testimony, and applying that figure to the fourteen-month period of time Plaintiff was “out” from January 2013 (presumably after the initial nine weeks) through February 2014 when he was “cleared to work.” (R. pp. 250-51).

³ This figure resulted from the jury annualizing Plaintiff’s lost wages, multiplied by an “Inefficiency” factor of 25%, and then multiplying that sum by twenty-three for his “years retirement” beginning from February 2014. (R. pp. 250-51).

⁴ The court explained how and when it received Court’s Exhibit 9 during the hearing on Plaintiff’s Post-Trial motions. (R. pp. 230:15-231:2).

While testimony was presented that this may be a safer method or preferred method there was no testimony to indicate it was the duty of the truck driver at the time of the incident.

(R. p. 230:10-18). The court accordingly denied this motion. (R. pp. 229:7-230:19).

As to damages, the Ports Authority agreed Plaintiff is entitled to recover his medical bills and “some form of compensation for whatever he can show from the period of this accident until February [2014] when he was released to go back to work.” (R. p. 234:10-13). The Ports Authority specifically argued at the hearing that Plaintiff is not entitled to the over \$398,000 in projected future wages after February 2014 because there was no evidence of Plaintiff’s inability to work beyond that date. (R. p. 234:14-20). The court denied the Ports Authority’s motion for a new trial absolute and alternative motion for new trial *nisi remittitur* on two apparent grounds. First, the court found the Ports Authority did not object its jury charge on future lost wages.⁵ (R. p. 241:7-15). Second, the court inappositely referenced evidence that “[P]laintiff was going to be in a lifetime of pain potentially facing surgeries” and denied the motions “[b]ased upon the testimony as a whole.” (R. p. 242:1-5).

The court thereafter entered a written order denying these motions without further explanation but reducing the verdict to \$300,000 pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. (R. pp. 8-9).

⁵ The trial court struck Plaintiff’s request for lost wages because Plaintiff did not offer a sufficient documentary foundation for them. (R. pp. 169:4-171:6). The court nevertheless inadvertently included some language in its charge regarding lost wages. (R. pp. 201:24-203:2). Candidly, the Ports Authority did not object to what appears to be the accidental inclusion of this language. Plaintiff’s counsel too was under the impression that the trial court did not charge on lost wages. (*See* R. p. 210:2-6). This is distinct from the jury’s imposition of damages for future wages that Plaintiff never requested and conceded did not exist.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A. Failure to Instruct the Jury on Comparative Negligence

Under South Carolina law, an appeal alleging an error in the instruction of the jury is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Pope v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, 395 S.C. 404, 414, 717 S.E.2d 765, 770 (Ct. App. 2011). “A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence.” *State v. Lee-Grigg*, 347 S.C. 388, 406, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007).

B. Denial of New Trial Absolute/New Trial Nisi Remittitur

On appeal, this Court reviews the denial of a new trial absolute or new trial *nisi remittitur* for abuse of discretion. *See McAlhaney v. McElveen*, 413 S.C. 299, 303, 775 S.E.2d 411, 413 (Ct. App. 2015). The trial court abuses its discretion when it denies a new trial absolute or *nisi* if the verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive “so as to be the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside of the evidence.” *O’Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 527, 431 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1993). The denial of a new trial *nisi remittitur* will be reversed where the decision is controlled by an error of law or a new trial absolute should have been granted. *Knoke v. S.C. Dept. of Parks, Recreation & Tourism*, 324 S.C. 136, 141, 478 S.E.2d 256, 258 (1996).

II. The Court Should Reverse and Remand Because the Trial Judge Erred in Refusing to Instruct the Jury Regarding Comparative Negligence

This Court should reverse the jury’s verdict and the trial judge’s denial of the Ports Authority’s motion for a new trial because the trial court erroneously refused to instruct the jury on comparative negligence, a legal theory that the Ports Authority raised in the pleadings and that the evidence fully supports. At trial, the Ports Authority introduced substantial evidence establishing Plaintiff breached his duty to either disengage the locking pins securing the container

to his trailer at the outset or check to ensure that they were not inadvertently returned to the engaged position before the load was positioned for removal and lifted from his chassis. This is sufficient evidence to support the inference that Plaintiff acted in a negligent manner, and the jury should have had the opportunity to consider his comparative negligence. Therefore, the trial judge erred when she refused to instruct the jury regarding comparative negligence.

“It is well settled that jury instructions should be confined to the issues raised by the pleadings and supported by the evidence and *where an issue is implicitly suggested by the pleadings and supported by the evidence, the trial judge is obligated to instruct the jury concerning it.*” *Ellison v. Parts Distributors, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 299, 301, 395 S.E.2d 740, 741 (Ct. App. 1990) (emphasis added). ““When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge only principles of law that apply to the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues.”” *Manios v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP*, 389 S.C. 126, 142, 697 S.E.2d 644, 652 (Ct. App. 2010) (*quoting Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 390, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)).

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