**RECEIVED**

JUL 23 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

THE HONORABLE KRISTI LEA HARRINGTON,  
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2018-001158

---

Curtis Mills,

versus

**RESPONDENT,**

South Carolina State Ports Authority,

**APPELLANT.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Ladson F. Howell, Jr.  
HOWELL LAW GROUP, LLC  
250 Mathis Ferry Road, Ste. 102  
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464  
(843) 501-2011

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR A JURY CHARGE ON THE ISSUE IN THIS CASE WHERE DEFENDANT PRESENTED ZERO EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF PLAINTIFF.**

#### **A. Appellant's Argument is an Attempt to use *Res Ipsa Loquitor* as a Shield**

Plaintiff clearly testified at trial that upon approaching the gate, he stopped and got out of his truck. Plaintiff then testified that he proceeded to walk around the truck and removed all four locking pins [R.p., at 099: 1-19]. **This testimony was uncontroverted at trial.** Defendant was unable to produce any evidence, in the form of testimony, video surveillance, or otherwise, that Plaintiff committed any act or omission that might be construed as negligence. The reason for Defendant's failure to do so is because no such evidence exists.

As the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor*, or rather the absence thereof, applies to Plaintiffs in South Carolina, Where circumstantial evidence is relied upon to establish liability, the plaintiff must show such circumstances as would justify the inference that his injuries were due to the negligent act of the defendant, and not leave the question to mere conjecture or speculation. *Leek v. New South Express Lines*, 192 S.C. 527, 7 S.E.2d 459; *Barnwell v. Elliott*, 225 S.C. 62, 80 S.E.2d 748.

Because Defendant failed to produce even a scintilla of evidence of negligence on the part of Plaintiff, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to refrain from charging the jury on the issue of comparative negligence.

**B. Appellant Failed to Either Establish a Duty Owed by Respondent, or any Breach of Duty.**

Jury instructions should be confined to the issues raised by the pleadings **and supported by the evidence.** [emphasis added]. *Mouzon v. Moore and Stewart, Inc.*, 282 S.C. 233, 317 S.E.2d 756 (S.C. App (1984), citing *Tucker v. Reynolds*, 268 S.C. 330, 233 S.E.2d 402 (1977); *Baker v. Weaver*, 279 S.C. 479, 309 S.E.2d 770 (S.C.App. 1983).

Where an issue is implicitly suggested by the pleadings and is **supported by the evidence**, the trial court is obligated to instruct the jury concerning it. [emphasis added]. *Mouzon, Id.*, citing *Carroll v. Smith-Henry, Inc.*, 313 S.E.2d 649 (S.C.App. 1984).

Appellant makes the argument that Plaintiff breached his duty to exit his truck after arriving at the crane to check for a second time whether the pins had jostled back into place. However, at trial, **Defendant offered zero evidence that any driver at the port has ever gotten out of the truck to check the pins a second time, either before or after this accident.** The reason no drivers get out of their truck upon arrival at the crane is because that would be dangerous.

Upon cross examination by Defendant, Barney Washington, a truck driver and eyewitness to the incident, testified as follows:

Q. Is there any reason you can't tell that [crane] operator, just hold on a minute and let me jump and make certain, I went over some bumps getting here, and I want to double check to make certain the pins are pulled?

A. No driver do that. [R.p. at 130: 13-18]

Appellant's argument that Plaintiff breached a duty rests on the absurd notion that Plaintiff should have exited his truck while next to the crane, an action that no driver, before or since, performs at Defendant's port. Four of Defendant's employees testified at trial, two of which are crane operators. Not one witness testified at trial that a truck driver has a duty to check the pins a second time while at the crane. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's refusal to charge comparative negligence at the trial of this matter.

## II.

### **THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S POST TRIAL MOTIONS BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS NEITHER EXCESSIVE NOR UNSUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE.**

#### **A. Appellant Failed to Preserve the Issue of Lost Wages or Future Lost Income for Appeal.**

Defendant objected at trial to any charge on the issue of lost wages. [R.p. at 171: 6-9]. The trial Court granted this request. [R.p. at 173: 1-2]. However, the Court charged the jury on both the issue of lost wages, [R.p., 204: 6 - 25] as well as reduced earning capacity for the future. [R.p., 204: 1-15].<sup>1</sup> After the jury was charged, and prior to the case going to the jury, the Court asked counsel for the parties whether there were any objections

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant's contention that counsel for Plaintiff was under the impression that lost wages was not charged [Brief of Appellant, p. 12, footnote 5] is simply untrue. It was discussed in chambers, and it is the specific reason the undersigned obtained an expedited transcript of the charges and made same available to the trial Court at the post-trial motion hearing. [R.pp 235: 10-25; 236: 1-25; 237:1-25]

to the charges as given. Both parties responded that there were no objections. [R.p. 211: 6-22]. However, Defendant failed to take exception to any charges related to past and future lost wages.

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal."

*State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003).

"A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground."

*Id.* at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694.

Accordingly, because the issue of lost wages was not preserved for appeal, this Court may not properly consider any arguments related to past and future lost wages.

**B. The Verdict Was Not Excessive and was Supported by the Evidence**

Dr. Zgleszewski testified that Plaintiff's injuries, including herniation of disc and annular tear were within a reasonable degree of medical certainty most probably caused by Plaintiff's accident. Dr. Zgleszewski also testified that Plaintiff's pain is real and he will suffer from it for the remainder of his life. [R.p. 136: 6 - 25]. The trial Court charged the jury that Plaintiff had a life expectancy of 32.78 years, and that the jury was entitled to consider the effect of the injuries on Plaintiff's future occupation. [R.pp. at 206: 18-25; 207:1]. Mr. Solomon and Plaintiff have identical occupations. Defendant entered Mr.

Solomon's pay stub into evidence, and Defendant questioned Plaintiff about the pay stub.

[R.p 231: 11-21]

Appellant relies in part on the Court of Appeals case of *McAlhaney v. McElveen*, 413 S.C. 299, 775 S.E.2d 411 (Ct. App 2015) in support of its argument that the trial Court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's motions for new trial absolute and new trial *nisi remittitur*. The Court in *McAlhaney*, finding no abuse of discretion by the trial Court, noted that there is a distinction between an appellate Court's review of actual damages as opposed to punitive damages, which is reviewed *de novo* on appeal. Punitive damages are not at issue in this case.

The jury's determination of damages, however, is entitled to substantial deference. *See, e.g., Brabham v. Southern Asphalt Haulers, Inc.*, 223 S.C. 421, 76 S.E.2d 301 (1953). The trial court should grant a new trial based on the excessiveness of the verdict only if the amount is not merely different from that which he would have awarded, but is so grossly excessive so as to shock the conscience of the court and clearly indicates that the figure reached was the result of caprice, passion, prejudice, partiality, corruption or other improper motives. *Id.* The decision to grant a new trial is left to the sound discretion of the trial court and ordinarily will not be disturbed on appeal. *Vernon v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 221 S.C. 376, 70 S.E.2d 862 (1952).

Plaintiff testified that he lost wages in the amount of about \$12,000.00 over the course of approximately 9 weeks. [R.p. 110: 6-15]. This equates to approximately \$1,333.33 per week. Considering Plaintiff's life expectancy of 32.78 years, with an average

of 52.1 weeks per year, and assuming Plaintiff's earnings never increase, this equates to approximately 1,707 weeks, for a total future lost earning capacity of \$2,275,994.30.

Plaintiff testified that his medical bills were \$50,228.92, and these bills were submitted into evidence for the jury's consideration without objection from Defendant. [R.pp. 108: 21 - 25 & 109: 1 - 22]. Dr. Zgleszewski testified that Plaintiff's injuries, including herniation of disc and annular tear were within a reasonable degree of medical certainty most probably caused by Plaintiff's accident. Dr. Zgleszewski also testified that Plaintiff's pain is real and he will suffer from it for the remainder of his life. [R.p., 136: 6 - 25]. He is a candidate for surgery, but cannot undergo the procedure because there is a fifty percent chance it would prove fatal; he is in pain every day; and he can no longer enjoy the physical activities he once enjoyed. [R.pp. 107- 112]

The decision of the trial judge on matters related to a verdict should not be disturbed unless it clearly appears that the exercise of discretion was controlled by a manifest error of law. The trial judge who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial possesses a better-informed view of the damages than an appellate Court. *Daniel v. Sharpe Const. Co.*, 270 S.C. 687, 244 S.E.2d 312 (1978).

The jury's verdict in no way shocks the conscious, was not excessive, was supported by the evidence, and the trial Court's rulings should be affirmed.

1. The Note Handed to the Trial Court Has No Dispositive Weight.

Appellant puts virtually all its eggs in the basket that is the note handed to the trial judge. However, for the following reasons, the note cannot be used as a basis to calculate the reasoning of the jury:

- a) All 12 jurors had notepads [R.p. 097: 2-7]
- b) Almost all jurors made use of their notepads [R.p 237: 17-25]
- c) None of the many other pages of notes taken by jurors are part of the record in this case
- d) No juror was polled or otherwise divulged the reasoning that took place in the deliberation room
- e) As noted by the trial Court: “So I want to be clear. There was no discussion with any juror in any way concerning what was on that paper or what those numbers mean.” [R.p 238: 15-17]

The judge correctly informed the jury that notes are exactly that. One juror’s notes are no more correct or accurate than another juror’s notes. [R.p. 097: 8-15]. Accordingly, Appellant’s extrapolations and calculations based upon a single sheet of paper, are woefully misplaced, inaccurate, and cannot be relied upon.